
[image: The Vagabonds: The Story of Henry Ford and Thomas Edison's Ten-Year Road Trip, by Jeff Guinn.]



Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster ebook.

Get a FREE ebook when you join our mailing list. Plus, get updates on new releases, deals, recommended reads, and more from Simon & Schuster. Click below to sign up and see terms and conditions.




CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP




Already a subscriber? Provide your email again so we can register this ebook and send you more of what you like to read. You will continue to receive exclusive offers in your inbox.





[image: The Vagabonds: The Story of Henry Ford and Thomas Edison's Ten-Year Road Trip, by Jeff Guinn. Simon & Schuster.]



For Jon Karp, who suggested the subject.

And for James Ward Lee, Carlton Stowers, Anne E. Collier, Jim Fuquay, and Ralph Lauer, the friends who were with me on many of the miles.



Prologue



Paris, Michigan

Mid-August 1923

Bad weather plagued much of Michigan during the late summer of 1923. Unseasonably cool temperatures combined with near-constant rain, trapping residents indoors and tamping down what had been, for the last fifteen years or so, an ever-increasing influx of tourists eager to enjoy the state’s bracing mix of sprawling woodlands, arching hills, and sparkling lakes.

This was especially true in the tiny, unincorporated township of Paris, named in the 1850s for early settler John Parish. Somewhere along the line the “h” was dropped. If most of Michigan eerily resembled a palm-down left hand, Paris was located at approximately the lowest joint of the ring finger. Grand Rapids, the nearest city of any consequence, was sixty-five miles to the south, several hours’ hard driving given the poor quality of the roads wending their way through that part of the state. Paris, like most of its neighboring villages in Mecosta County, was a stop for the Grand Rapids and Indiana Railroad to take on water and load timber and other goods after its tracks were laid across the state in the late 1860s and early 1870s. Paris residents, rarely numbering above the mid-hundreds, were mostly farmers. Others worked at the state fish hatchery in town—the wide Muskegon River flowed nearby. The hatchery was the town’s crown jewel. When the train left town, it always carried containers of brown trout “fingerlings” to stock lakes and rivers all over the region. Many of the humble houses in town were still fairly new. A fire in 1879 had decimated much of the early settlement, and cash-strapped locals took almost a generation to completely rebuild.

Early in Paris’s modest existence, outsiders usually arrived as passengers on a Sunday-only “picnic train” from Grand Rapids that made one of its stops near the hatchery. These visitors frequently purchased drinks, snacks, and notions at Montague’s store. The Montagues were among the area’s first settlers. In 1923, Charlie Montague ran the shop. To attract a new generation of customers, he’d installed gas pumps out front. In only two decades, the number of automobiles in America had swelled from approximately eight thousand to about ten million. Highway 131, a bumpy dirt/gravel hybrid that frequently tore tires, chipped paint, and cracked windshields, ran through the middle of town. In Michigan as everywhere else in the country, Americans increasingly used cars for weekend or extended holiday travel as well as day-to-day work- or errand-related driving. “Gypsying” was an early, popular term for such outings. Participants were known as “vacationists,” or, if extended trips involved pitching tents at night, “autocampers.” Many drove through Paris on their way to somewhere more interesting, often Traverse City further to the northwest, which offered ferry services to whisk passengers and their cars to the frequently spectacular climes of Michigan’s Upper Peninsula across Lake Michigan.

The first full-fledged gas stations had begun springing up around the country, but most of these were located in cities or else along the nation’s more improved major highways. Backcountry drivers generally depended on mom-and-pop grocery pumps like those at Montague’s for fuel replenishment. As out-of-town traffic through town increased, so did Charlie Montague’s income from sales of gasoline and motor oil. Some Paris residents owned cars, too. Like their fellow field-tillers across the land, Mecosta County farmers initially opposed the car gypsiers, who frequently camped overnight on their land without permission and left behind mounds of trash. But the farmers eventually realized the time-saving benefit of hauling crops to market by car rather than horse-drawn wagon and joined in automobile ownership themselves. There were still a lot of horses and wagons in Paris. At about 25 cents a gallon, Charlie rarely sold more than $100 worth of gas in a busy week. Thanks to the inclement weather so far in August that restricted driving for town residents and gypsiers alike, he’d lately been hard-pressed to sell that much.

This made what happened in mid-month all the more surprising. On a drizzly afternoon, Paris townsfolk were out and about, puttering in gardens, visiting on stoops with neighbors, or shopping at Montague’s, when they heard the purr of powerful engines. Then out of the mist on Highway 131 there appeared from the southeast a fleet of very grand automobiles, six in all, Lincolns and Cadillacs and two other vehicles that looked like nothing anyone in Paris had seen or even imagined before, hulking squarish metal wagons clearly built for hauling bulky loads.

The impressive caravan glided to a stop outside Montague’s. The driver’s side doors of the passenger vehicles opened, and from them emerged strapping men outfitted in matching khaki uniforms that resembled military garb. A small crowd gathered as these uniquely dressed fellows took turns filling their cars with gasoline. The onlookers, too intimidated to ask outright, whispered among themselves: Who are these people? After a few moments, their collective gaze switched to the windows of the passenger cars, staring at the men and women who still sat inside the automobiles, keeping out of the drizzle. Then a few locals felt sufficiently emboldened to move forward, and someone blurted loudly, “That guy in the back seat looks like Henry Ford!”

It was.

For any number of reasons—his outspoken pacifism prior to the recent world war, speculation about his prospects for the U.S. presidency in the upcoming 1924 election, constant print and photographic coverage that made his name and hawklike visage familiar, his widely perceived championing of the working class with high wages and shortened workdays, and, above all, for his modestly priced Model T that, for the first time, made car ownership possible even for people of limited means—Henry Ford had become perhaps the most famous man in America. He was certainly the most famous ever to show up unexpectedly in Paris, Michigan, and everyone in the crowd pushed forward to see him for themselves. Ford obligingly got out of his car. He offered no wave of greeting or any other theatrical gesture—he was deservedly renowned as a singularly undemonstrative man who in particular eschewed speeches. But with that exception Ford generally accepted the responsibilities of his celebrity—he’d worked diligently to cultivate it, realizing early on that his personal fame heightened demand for Model Ts—and so Ford stood in the dampness, nodding and smiling pleasantly, letting the crowd have a good look. The gawkers were only momentarily satiated. Then their excitement escalated, for if this was Henry Ford with an accompanying fleet of luxury cars, then it surely must mean . . .

Most summers for approximately the last decade, Henry Ford set out on auto trips that often extended two weeks or more, visiting remote towns and small communities, camping sometimes in parks and more frequently on private land, always asking permission first from owners and if required compensating them generously. On every trip, Ford was accompanied by friends—sometimes other business magnates or else government officials, high-ranking Ford staff members, once the now recently deceased president Warren G. Harding. His road companions always included two stalwart Ford pals, tire tycoon Harvey Firestone and much beloved inventor Thomas Edison, the only living American whose fame rivaled Ford’s own. After a few such trips, the trio, together with a fourth friend, the late naturalist John Burroughs, fancifully dubbed themselves “the Vagabonds,” and each year the announcement of their latest summer excursion sparked endless speculation about where they might venture next. A general region was always cited in advance, but not a specific route. They might pop up anywhere—speculation was rampant. In 1923, it was known that the Vagabonds would attend Harding’s funeral in Ohio, then motor on into the Upper Midwest, possibly through Wisconsin and undoubtedly parts of Michigan. Town newspapers throughout the region were full of wishful speculation—wouldn’t it be wonderful if they stopped here? Paris residents, who mostly read either the Battle Creek Enquirer or the more local Big Rapids Pioneer, would have held little hope that the celebrity troupe would motor their way. One of the Vagabonds’ avowed goals on this summer’s trip was to visit Ford lumber interests in Michigan’s Upper Peninsula, most easily reached from Ohio by driving due north through eastern Wisconsin. Yet here was Henry Ford, rain dripping off the brim of his hat, and if Ford was present that must mean somewhere in one of those passenger cars sat Thomas Edison, and there he was, the great head topped by messily flopping silver hair making him easy to recognize as well. But Edison didn’t get out; he was in the early stages of a nasty cold and the weather was too severe. Harvey Firestone, his last name far better known than his genial, generic face, was identified inside several of the cars, and always in error. Firestone and his family, traveling in yet another fine car, were many miles away because their driver had gotten lost. This happened frequently on the Vagabonds’ summer trips. One car or another would take a wrong turn on a poorly marked road, and someone on the trip’s support staff would eventually be tasked with tracking down the missing vehicle and guiding it back on route.

Meanwhile, here were Ford and Edison and (supposedly) Firestone in Paris, apparently making a brief stop to refuel, but then Henry Ford had a question for the crowd: Did anyone know the way to Jep Bisbee’s house? They all did—everybody in Paris knew where everybody else lived—and Ford’s inquiry further ratcheted up their sense of speculative wonder, for eighty-one-year-old Jep was the closest thing tiny Paris had to a hometown celebrity. For all of his lengthy adult life, Jep variously earned his daily bread as a store clerk, drugstore and grocery store manager, house painter, and farmer. In the most current edition of The Farm Journal Illustrated Directory of Mecosta County, an ad-saturated directory of who lived where locally, Jep was identified as a shoemaker. But his real talent, and true professional love, was playing his handmade fiddles at area dances and festivals. Jep had a family to support, so he couldn’t fully embrace the itinerant, constantly hand-to-mouth career of a country musician, but Sarah Bisbee, his wife of forty-four years, and their now grown kids were good musicians, too, and quite often the entire Bisbee family performed onstage, fiddle and piano and second fiddle and clarinet and bass fiddle and sometimes even a bass drum. Set lists always featured old-fashioned favorites like “Turkey in the Straw” and “The Girl I Left Behind Me,” the kind of tunes that set toes a-tapping and lent themselves perfectly to square dancing. All of which was fine for hardscrabble folks in Mecosta County, and in other neighboring parts of their sparsely populated region. By local standards, Jep’s music career was a considerable success. But how could an important big-city man like Henry Ford have even heard of old Jep Bisbee?

In front of Montague’s, Ford offered no explanation. He simply asked directions to the Bisbee home and waited through the beat or two it took for the crowd to digest the question and respond. A parade of volunteers stepped up to lead the auto caravan a few hundred yards to Jep’s. The cars rolled slowly along and stopped in front of a nondescript residence with a small barn out back. As town residents continued staring, Ford got out of his car again, marched to the front door, and knocked. A second man came with him. When Mrs. Sarah Bisbee emerged, she was naturally taken aback by the sight of Henry Ford on the stoop, with a fleet of cars and apparently half the town right behind him. Ford politely introduced himself and the second man, Edward Kingsford, who managed one of Ford’s lumber businesses in the Upper Peninsula. Ford asked if Mr. Bisbee was home. Later, as witnesses added embellishments, Mrs. Bisbee was described as calmly ushering her famous visitor and his companion right in, acting for all the world as though celebrities appeared on her doorstep all the time, but the reality was that she needed to gather herself before mumbling that Jep was out in the barn. Instinctive good manners compelled her to invite them in while her husband was fetched—a number of townsfolk, eavesdropping for all their ears were worth, heard Ford’s question and gleefully hustled to the barn on his behalf—but shock prevented Mrs. Bisbee from fully embracing her sudden role as hostess to the great and asking Ford to bring along all the other people who remained in the cars outside.

Mrs. Bisbee seated Ford and Kingsford in her modest parlor. When Jep hustled in, Ford, never one for unnecessary chitchat, immediately asked him to get his fiddle and play. As a lifelong musician for hire, Jep was accustomed to performing on demand. This circumstance was certainly different—Henry Ford appearing out of nowhere in his home—but the request itself was normal enough. Jep got his fiddle and Kingsford explained why they’d come. Some years earlier, Kingsford heard Jep play at a dance. It was well-known among Ford associates that their employer loathed modern music—he found jazz particularly detestable—but thoroughly enjoyed traditional tunes and the square dances, waltzes, and polkas associated with them. When Kingsford learned that Ford was coming up through southwest Michigan on this summer’s trip, he suggested a stop in Paris so that the boss could savor some of Jep’s fiddling in person. And now, here they were.

Jep enjoyed the story and started to play, with his wife accompanying him on piano. No account exists of the songs they played, but whatever they were, Ford was enchanted. He toe-tapped right along, and when the Bisbees paused for a moment between numbers Ford sent Kingsford to summon the rest of the party. In came Thomas Edison, wide-bellied and clad as usual in rumpled clothes that looked like they’d been slept in, which they probably had—on Vagabonds trips, Edison was notorious for curling up for naps underneath trees, beside babbling brooks, or across car seats. Behind him were two ladies, Clara Ford and Mina Edison. As grande dames fully aware of their exalted social status, they were appropriately dressed to appear in public, in long flowing dresses that covered them from neck to instep with armorlike corsets beneath—nothing about an upper-class woman must appear to jiggle—and fashionable bonnets that remained pinned to their finely coiffed hair even indoors.

This was a moment when true country hospitality might have required the offering of refreshments, and how was Mrs. Bisbee to know what, in her limited larder, would be deemed acceptable by such American royalty? But Henry Ford rescued her from such a delicate decision. He’d come to hear music, not snack, and asked politely but firmly for the Bisbees to play some more. They did, and two unexpected things happened. First, Edison moved his chair directly beside where Jep stood, and bent so that his ear was almost directly over the fiddle’s ringing strings. It was widely known that Thomas Edison was exceptionally hard of hearing, and here was proof. He clearly didn’t want to miss a single note or nuance. Even more astonishingly, Henry and Clara Ford stood and began dancing together, right there in the Bisbee parlor, just like a country couple at a Mecosta County barn dance. The Fords had obviously danced to folk tunes before. They moved with grace and precision, smiling as they swayed, and when the Bisbees’ fingers ached so much that they had to stop playing, Ford was positively garrulous. Afterward, when neighbors badgered Jep for details, he said Ford kept repeating how hard it was to hear such fine music nowadays. The Bisbees played the right music, the great man said, real American music and not that awful-sounding jazz. In between paying compliments, Ford made an offer: He wanted to buy Jep’s fiddle. It turned out that Ford had a whole collection of them, Stradivariuses and other fine violins, and he believed Jep’s modest homemade instrument would fit right in. (Ford himself enjoyed sawing away on a Stradivarius, but the resulting sounds were more correctly identified as noise rather than music.) Jep had no attachment to this particular fiddle—he made, played, and sold them all the time. Likely he would just have given the thing to his very distinguished guest, but never got the chance. Instead of offering a modest amount as a preliminary step in negotiation, Ford slapped $100 down on a table as payment and of course Jep took it, that sum surely being five or even ten times more than he’d previously made on a handmade fiddle.

All that—the Vagabonds coming to town, them asking for Jep Bisbee, the Fords dancing in the Bisbee front room, Ford forking over a century note for Jep’s fiddle, miracles beyond proper description—and then Thomas Edison topped them. He’d let Ford do the talking, but now he flashed that wide wonderful smile familiar from all the newspaper photos and, in a voice made croaky by his cold, instructed Jep to prepare for travel. Once his summer trip was done and he was back home in New Jersey, Edison explained, he wanted Jep and the whole Bisbee family to board a train at the Paris depot and head there, too. Once arrived, Jep would make recordings right in Edison’s private studio, just like famous opera singers and symphony orchestras sometimes did. Edison, who’d invented the phonograph way back in the 1870s, also had a company that sold recordings everywhere. They’d make Jep’s music available to the entire nation. And while Jep was out east, Edison promised to introduce him to the New York City press, who’d write all kinds of stories about him. Edison pointed out that other musicians he’d recorded became so popular that they headlined extended tours around the country. His offer gave Jep not only the chance to make a national name for himself, but maybe a lot of money, too. Jep hardly knew what to say. Just hours earlier, such things would have been as far beyond belief as the elderly fiddler sprouting wings to fly.

It was at this point that Ford had a final surprise. He told Jep that he was so pleased with his music, he was going to give him a new Model T with all the extras right off the Ford assembly line downstate. It’d be delivered soon, right here in Paris, so Jep could drive himself to jobs at dances and festivals in style. And then, while Jep and Sarah stood there stunned, the Fords and Edisons and Kingsford bid them rather abrupt goodbyes, got in their cars, and the whole caravan whooshed off north in the rain. One moment Henry Ford and Thomas Edison were in the parlor, making all kinds of dazzling promises, and the next they were out of sight.

Afterward, the Vagabonds’ visit naturally dominated talk in Paris. Those who couldn’t believe their own eyes were reassured in print that they hadn’t been mistaken. Reporters must have been among the passengers in the fancy cars, because over the next few days articles about the visit to Jep and the pledges made to him appeared in newspapers as far away as California and New York. That was certainly fine, but then came subsequent stories about the Vagabonds’ further summer adventures, and none of these mentioned Jep, reporting instead how Ford put out some small wildfire in a park upstate and Edison’s cold got worse—at least one newspaper declared that he might die, which he didn’t—and how Mrs. Ford got into it with some young lady sunbathers by a lake, criticizing their too-revealing short-shorts and refusing to give them her autograph. Then came stories announcing the trip was over, that Ford was back home in downstate Dearborn and Edison in New Jersey.

The Bisbees and everyone else in Paris were left to wonder—did Ford and Edison really mean what they’d said? In the weeks after they passed through town, no further word was received from them, let alone train tickets to New Jersey or a spanking new Model T. Sure, Jep had his $100 for a fiddle, and Charlie Montague couldn’t stop crowing about making $100 on gasoline sales in a single hour, what with all the gallons those drivers pumped into the Vagabonds’ fancy cars. These things alone would have been historic for the small town, events endlessly described to future generations. But the larger question remained. It was likely that these two great men made all kinds of promises as they drove about the country, perhaps too many to remember every one when they got back home and resumed making cars and inventing things. It seemed possible—and, as more days passed, even probable—that amid the ongoing great doings of their famous lives, Ford and Edison simply forgot Jep Bisbee.



The rest of August and then all of September passed, and by early October there was still no word, no summons to New Jersey or the delivery of a car. People in Paris settled in for the approaching winter. They sympathized with poor Jep, whose hopes had been raised so high. At least he remained spry enough to continue playing for a few dollars here and there at local gatherings. His reputation benefited from the Vagabonds’ visit—it wasn’t every country fiddler who could claim he’d played as Henry and Clara Ford danced, impressed Thomas Edison to boot, and had copies of newspaper articles to prove it.

But the great men had encouraged him to expect so much more. As the weather turned colder, as the first snow fell on Paris, Jep Bisbee could only continue hoping that Henry Ford and Thomas Edison were not only great men, but truthful ones, too.



Chapter One



1914

On February 23, 1914, nine and a half years before Henry Ford and Thomas Edison dropped in on Jep Bisbee in Paris, Michigan, two thousand people swarmed around the train depot in Fort Myers, a small but growing town on Florida’s west coast. The crowd, comprising virtually the entire area population, included quite a few people toting homemade banners and a small brass band ready to strike up celebratory tunes. Everyone sweated in the warm sunshine. The Atlantic Coast Line train they awaited was almost a half-hour late, and as they milled impatiently their excitement became increasingly mixed with concern. Thomas Edison, by far Fort Myers’s most famous—if only part-time—resident, was scheduled to arrive for his annual months-long escape from the winter cold and business cares of New Jersey, and if newspaper reports from up north were to be believed, he was bringing along not only his wife and three youngest children, but also two prominent friends. One, naturalist John Burroughs, was a well-known author-lecturer who both charmed and instructed readers and audiences with fact-filled tales of countryside rambling. Town leaders, eager for economic growth from tourism, had hopes that Burroughs might commemorate his visit with magazine articles or even a book extolling the wonders of colorful area plants and wildlife. Previous Burroughs writings had inspired many readers to visit the author’s native New York state and also Yellowstone National Park. If sufficiently impressed, he might bestow the same priceless favor on Fort Myers. The seventy-six-year-old Burroughs must be made welcome from the moment he stepped from the train.

This was even truer of Edison’s other well-known guest. In 1908, Henry Ford introduced a car that transformed American consumerism and travel. Previously, automobiles were exclusively for the rich, costing thousands of dollars just for purchase, and considerably more for upkeep—the country’s rough roads pounded dents into heavy chassis, ripped hoses, shook loose valves, and punctured overburdened tires at staggering, expensive rates. But Ford’s Model T changed everything. Thanks in great part to Ford’s innovative assembly line, Model Ts were mass-produced on a previously unimaginable scale. In competitors’ factories, it took workers several hours to assemble an individual car. At the Ford plant, a completed Model T rolled off the line every two and a half minutes. It was America’s first real family car. Various styles had room for as many as six passengers (one publicity photo showed parents and nine children crammed in), with a five-passenger model the most popular.

One feature of the Model T was to impact all other American cars. Prior to 1908, there was no set placement for steering wheels—they might be placed on the right or left side of the front seat, pretty much at the manufacturer’s whim, with right-side steering prevalent. But Ford insisted that the Model T wheel be on the left because he intuited a change in car passengers. Automobiles were used more and more for family transportation, with, of course, men always driving but with wives, mothers, daughters, sisters, or girlfriends seated beside them. Most American roads remained rough, with many composed of dirt that could deteriorate to mud or dust depending on weather. U.S. cars were driven on the right-hand side of the road. If the steering wheel was on the left, and female passengers were seated on the right, then the driver could pull up to sidewalks and the ladies could step out of the car and onto pavement without soiling their shoes.

Model Ts were also utilitarian—fancy body styles, pots for plants, and other gewgaws that traditionally prettified automobiles (and drove up the price) were conspicuously absent. Ford passed on the savings to his customers. At the time of its market introduction, the Model T sold for as little as half what other cars cost, and from there Ford continued tinkering with the manufacturing process, aggressively seeking ways to cut production expenses and Model T prices even more. The best example fostered a popular joke that you could buy any color Model T that you liked, so long as the color was black. Few realized that Ford insisted the cars come in that color because black paint dried quickest, meaning Model Ts could be whipped through the assembly line and off to dealerships at an even faster pace, saving additional time and labor-related dollars. Thanks to these and other innovations, in the last few years the car’s average price gradually dipped from $850 down to the $500s.

Model T savings for owners only commenced with the initial purchase. Ford’s engineers—he employed only the very best and brightest—copied certain European auto manufacturers who utilized vanadium steel, a much lighter metal that allowed Model Ts to skim over rock-rutted, pothole-clotted roads that routinely shook heavier cars into pieces. An Oldsmobile Model S tipped the scales at 2,300 pounds; a Pierce Great Arrow weighed in at a hefty 2,700. At 1,200 pounds, the Model T weighed half as much, and the cost of body repairs and replacement tires was accordingly less. Suddenly, members of the expanding American middle class could afford not only to own a car, but to drive it inexpensively wherever there was any semblance of a passable road. They responded enthusiastically. In 1908, as Ford introduced the Model T, Americans owned approximately 194,400 cars. Just six years later, as the crowd gathered at the Fort Myers train depot, that number had increased to about two million, and Ford controlled almost half the automobile market.

The Model T alone would have established the fifty-one-year-old Henry Ford as a household name, but just three weeks before his anticipated arrival in Fort Myers, he’d further cemented his reputation as a friend of the working man with a stunning announcement. In an era when factory line workers were lucky to earn $2 a day for their labor and toiled through ten-hour shifts six days a week, Ford pledged to pay $5 a day, and to reduce workdays to eight hours. More pay for less work—this was largesse almost beyond comprehension. Everyone in America was talking about it, and at this very moment when his popularity had reached a new zenith, Henry Ford was due to arrive in Fort Myers—that is, if the blasted train ever came, and if, this time, Thomas Edison actually kept his word. Yes, he’d promised Yankee reporters that he was bringing Henry Ford and John Burroughs south to Fort Myers, but the man had broken promises, and trusting Fort Myers hearts, before.

Edison first arrived in Fort Myers in March 1885, on vacation with business partner Ezra T. Gilliland and mourning the recent death of his first wife. There was nothing unusual with a rich, well-known man from the Northeast escaping some of the winter cold with a Florida trip, but what was different about Edison was that he shunned the state’s far more populous and cosmopolitan east coast. It was impossible, at that time, to reach much of Florida’s west coast except by rickety train across the northern part of the state and then south by boat. No roads linked the coasts in mid- or lower-state. The vast Everglades formed a natural, forbidding barrier. Fort Myers itself was mostly populated with a few hundred cowboys and untold thousands of cattle, raised on local ranches to be shipped off to far-flung markets. But trail drives and railroad cattle cars in other places had pretty much eradicated the local beef industry, and tiny Fort Myers’s existence was to some extent in jeopardy. Edison’s visit, and subsequent decision to buy property and build a vacation retreat, was an unexpected godsend. As the inventor of the phonograph, the kinetoscope, and flexible film rolls that comprised important steps in the movie industry, and of the incandescent light bulb, the first to burn long, bright, and inexpensively in homes and offices (and, perhaps more critically, of generating systems that made connecting electrical power to these bulbs commercially possible), at present Edison was unquestionably the most famous man in America. If he vacationed annually in Fort Myers, surely some of that fame would attach itself to his new part-time hometown.

Things got off to a promising start. Edison and Gilliland built adjacent homes, and Edison added a laboratory adjoining his. He said that he would tinker and invent even on his Florida vacations—what great new thing might be birthed right in Fort Myers, with all the attending publicity? The world waited breathlessly for whatever he would conjure next, and now, hopefully for months at a time on a yearly basis, that global gaze would fix squarely on Fort Myers.

Edison soon made an announcement that thrilled his new Florida neighbors. For his Fort Myers laboratory to function properly, it must have electricity and lights. Accordingly, he would import a massive dynamo/generator system and electrify the entire isolated community. To this point, Fort Myers homes were lit with kerosene lanterns and candles. Outside of a few major cities, this was true all over Florida. By this one act of its new favorite son, a tiny backwater would leap forward in both reputation and self-respect. A town with electricity mattered. In early 1886, Edison returned with a new wife in tow, and as they honeymooned Edison informed the local newspaper that he’d get his home and laboratory set up for electric lights first with a small generator, then the rest of the town would have electricity immediately afterward, or as soon as the necessary equipment (which he would pay for himself) could be shipped from the North. On the night of March 17, 1887, most of Fort Myers’s other 349 residents lined up outside the Edison estate and gasped with wonder as its lights went on. The local newspaper speculated that a date would soon be announced for the rest of the community to be properly wired and illuminated. But the anticipated shipments didn’t arrive, and Edison returned to New Jersey. Everyone in Fort Myers assumed that their leading citizen would return and electric service would commence the following year, but neither happened. Edison and Gilliland had a nasty business falling-out that ended up in court and shattered their personal relationship. Edison had some health issues, and various other personal and business affairs claimed his attention. He didn’t return to Fort Myers in 1888, or the next year, or the next, and the townspeople decided that Thomas Edison had either forgotten or never meant his promise to bring electric light to them. A few more years passed without Edison returning to town. At one point he neglected to pay taxes on his Fort Myers property, and nearly lost it. Some construction work continued on the property, and various Edison relatives, including the inventor’s aging father, occasionally spent time there, but never the man himself or Mrs. Edison or their children. In 1897 another rich resident—even without Edison, Fort Myers managed to attract a small coterie of wealthy snowbirds—paid to import a sufficiently powerful generator to light the town.

Then, in 1901, Edison and his family returned, offering no explanations for their extended absence. The inventor praised Fort Myers’s progress: “It is the prettiest place in Florida and sooner or later visitors . . . will find it out.” Edison was accepted rather than warmly welcomed back. Though he was no longer expected to personally perform miracles for the town, his presence would still attract attention and, hopefully, more visitors. In 1904 the railroad finally reached Fort Myers. Permanent town population swelled to more than one thousand. Tourists on boat trips stopped to fish and shop. Things were definitely on the uptick, and then in 1907 the Edisons unexpectedly stepped forward again. They invested $250 in a community drive to build a country club and donated $150 to help found a town library. Best of all, they volunteered to line Riverside Avenue, the town’s main street, with attractive palm trees—in a letter addressed to the Fort Myers town council, Edison pledged to buy the trees, provide sufficient fertilizer, and replace any trees that died for a period of two years. After that, the town would be responsible for all costs and upkeep. The offer was quickly accepted, and Edison returned to local good graces to such an extent that plans were made to rename Riverside Avenue for him.

But the palm tree plan proved just as unreliable as Edison’s promise of electric lights. Too busy to oversee the process himself, Edison authorized two locals to acquire the trees and get them in the ground. It was expected to take only a matter of months. Some palms would come from the Everglades, others from Cuba. But a temporary quarantine delayed delivery of the Cuban trees, and most of the Everglades palms didn’t survive uprooting and replanting. Things sputtered along for several years. One of the local men tasked with buying and planting the trees was W. H. Towles, who also chaired the town council. Towles kept acquiring and planting more trees, but most wilted and died. He asked for and believed he received Edison’s approval for this additional expenditure. When Towles submitted a bill for $3,993.55, Edison was willing to reimburse only $1,500. The disagreement between them raged until the town council voted to pay Towles the difference between what he’d spent and what Edison paid him. Edison in turn was encouraged to “complete his gift to the city.” He didn’t—so far as Edison was concerned, he’d satisfied his obligation. As a rich, famous man, he was constantly badgered for donations to good causes, and even in a case like this when he’d been the one to make the original offer, limits had to be observed or else everyone would feel free to take advantage. Resentment festered on both sides. Soon afterward when a wealthy widow underwrote other improvements along the road, plans for “Edison Street” were scrapped and Riverside Avenue was renamed McGregor Boulevard in memory of her husband. In 1913, Edison donated some replacement palms, but, as Florida historian Michele Wehrwein Albion notes, “the relationship between the town and the Edisons remained somewhat strained.”

Which was why, at the Fort Myers depot in February 1914, there was an escalating degree of uncertainty whether Edison was going to step off the train with Ford and Burroughs, or else arrive without them or any explanation for their absence. Edison himself might not be on the train. There was no way of knowing until the arrival. Then came the sound of a whistle somewhere up the track, and finally the train pulled into view. Everyone pressed forward to see who emerged.

The train was late because several Fort Myers civic leaders had boarded it in an unscheduled stop outside town. The town mayor, the Booster Club leader, and the Fort Myers Board of Trade president all wanted to share in the adulation when Edison, Burroughs, and Ford stepped out onto the depot platform. The famous visitors were taken aback, and not especially pleased at the impending hoopla that the boarding party described. Besides the banners and band, every automobile owner in Fort Myers waited to participate in a grand parade from the railway depot to Edison’s home—that meant thirty-one cars in all. Madeleine Edison, the inventor’s twenty-six-year-old daughter, later lamented in a letter that all she wanted to do was “get home and wash my face.” There was nothing to do but go along—Ford, for one, had established a dealership in town, and sharing some smiles and handshakes might sell an additional Model T or two. The three famous men, trailed by Ford’s wife, Clara; his son, Edsel; Mina Edison and children Madeleine, Charles, and Theodore, were greeted on arrival by raucous cheers, then escorted to waiting cars for the ceremonial procession. The parade wended its way along, banners waving, and eventually the crowd left and Edison was finally free to welcome the Fords and Burroughs into his home. Host and guests settled in for a relaxing vacation, and an extended chance to get to know each other better.



The friendship between Thomas Edison and Henry Ford was relatively new, though Ford’s personal attachment to the inventor went back almost eighteen years. As a young engineer working for one of Edison’s Detroit companies, in 1896 Ford was introduced to the man he previously admired from afar at a corporate banquet in New York. Ford had dreams of building affordable cars powered by gasoline engines and worked tirelessly on designing one during off-work hours. Recently he’d street-tested his first prototype called “the Quadricycle,” a light wagon mounted on four bicycle wheels and powered by a small gas engine. As Ford gingerly steered the contraption around a few city blocks, a friend on a bicycle rode ahead to move aside pedestrians. Ford used this moment with Edison to describe his fledgling achievement. The older man, as was his custom with all would-be innovators, was encouraging, even though he himself believed that electric- rather than gasoline-powered cars would be the wave of the future. One of Edison’s areas of post-incandescent-bulb research was the attempted development of a car battery that could hold sufficient electrical charge to propel a vehicle more than a few miles.

Over the years, as Ford founded and failed with two auto manufacturing companies before succeeding with his third, he endlessly reminisced about the meeting and Edison’s words of encouragement: “Young man, that’s the thing. You have it. Keep at it.” Sometimes Ford described even more than that—he’d spent a long time at the banquet, talking with Edison; the two of them sketched things on napkins and shared a short train ride afterward. Ford was almost certainly exaggerating. But no matter how brief or extended this initial contact, his admiration for Edison blossomed into virtual worship as a result. Throughout his own business successes, as his hard work and belief in himself culminated with the Model T and subsequent automobile industry dominance, Ford warmed himself with memories of that encounter with his hero.

In April 1911, one of Edison’s business offices in Orange, New Jersey, received a letter from a high-level staffer for Henry Ford requesting, on Ford’s behalf, an autographed photo of Mr. Edison. At this point, Ford’s reputation as an innovator (if not inventor—though it wasn’t true, many assumed he’d actually invented the automobile) made him almost as well-known as Edison, and, because Ford was a cannier businessman than his hero, much wealthier. A few days later, one of Edison’s sales managers sent along a photo of Edison, which, besides a signature, included the inscription “To Henry Ford: One of a group of men who have helped to make [the] U.S.A. the most progressive nation in the world.” The sales manager added a note: “I assure you that Mr. Edison was only too glad to do this for Mr. Ford and he wished me to write you expressing his pleasure in doing so, and also inviting you and Mr. Ford to come to Orange at your convenience as he would be very much pleased to meet Mr. Ford.” To Ford, his interaction with Edison in 1896 was inspirational and life-changing. To Edison, it had been a brief encounter with an ambitious fan, not at all unique and instantly forgotten.

It took some time to arrange a date suitable to Edison’s schedule, but in January 1912 Henry Ford and Thomas Edison met in New Jersey. Ford relished the opportunity to once again trade shop talk. Edison, impressed with Ford’s booming car sales and resulting wealth, had an additional agenda. Though he was far from broke, Edison suffered financial setbacks on some of his own recent endeavors, notably in mining and a plan to build inexpensive houses made entirely of concrete. He now envisioned a monetary comeback by allocating enormous resources to the development of a storage battery so efficient that it would power electric cars up to the distances enjoyed by gas-burners. Edison charmed Ford as he would any potential investor, but at another level he found that he simply enjoyed the automaker’s company. Edison had few close friends; he always suspected that anyone seeking friendship had ulterior motives. But Ford was already far richer than Edison, and almost as famous. There were other things in common—during this visit, they found themselves in complete agreement about the evils of Wall Street and the crass men there who cared only for profit and not for the public. Both were poor boys who made good. Ford was the son of a farmer. Edison left school and went to work on the railroad at age twelve. Neither had a college degree, and both were disdainful of those who believed classroom education was superior to hands-on work experience and common sense. When Edison shared his plans to develop a better storage battery for electric cars, Ford was impressed and willing to partner in the effort. His belief in the ongoing dominance of his gas-powered Model T was strong enough that he didn’t fear competition from manufacturers of electric vehicles.

Later, Edison followed up the meeting with a letter to Ford. Usually he had business correspondence typed, but this time he wrote in his own flowing, even elegant hand:

Friend Ford . . . [thank you for] doing a little gambling with me on the future of the Storage Battery. Nothing would please me more than having you join in, it looks as if it had a large future. Of course I could go to Wall Street, but my experience over there is as sad as Chopins Funeral March, [so] I keep away. Yours, Edison

Ford’s gamble was far from little—some estimates pegged it at anywhere from $750,000 to $1.2 million. In the end, nothing came of it. Edison never perfected a storage battery that fully energized electric cars or created market demand for them, and Ford’s investment was lost. Ford wasn’t upset. He considered it an honor to partner with Edison professionally, and even more to count the inventor as a friend. Like Edison, he didn’t have many. Ford was a prickly man and also a complicated one, burning to make the world better for humanity as a whole while not enjoying personal contact with most individuals. Ford realized that no one other than Edison carried a comparable or even greater burden of public attention and expectation. They understood each other and the pressures on them in a way that no one else could, even their wives.

The friendship between Edison and Ford blossomed. Though business obligations made it difficult, they were able to occasionally make time to meet in person, usually the Fords dropping in on the Edisons while on trips to the East Coast. On one such occasion in January 1914, Ford and Edison granted a dual interview to a reporter from the New York Times. Ford announced that he and Edison were collaborating on plans for an electric car that should enter production within a year. (It didn’t.) Edison hinted at additional wonders to come from the new partnership, unidentified machinery that would allow workers to accomplish as much in hours as they currently did over several days. “The time is passing when human beings will be used as motors,” he said. The normally reticent Ford concluded the interview with an uncharacteristically effusive tribute to his new, dear friend: “I think Mr. Edison is the greatest man in the world, and I guess everyone does.”

Mina Edison and Clara Ford got on well, too. Both were fiercely protective of their husbands, and aware of their own presence in the public eye. It was natural, after a year or so of building the relationship, that the Edisons suggested the Fords should join them for a visit in early 1914 at their quaint retreat in Florida. Ford was pleased to accept. He even brought along another of his few close friends.



Unlike the near-immediate bond between Ford and Edison in Orange, Ford’s friendship with John Burroughs took considerable time to form. The elderly, opinionated naturalist despised modern technology, cars especially. In speeches and in print, Burroughs predicted that automobiles and their drivers would eventually “seek out even the most secluded nook or corner of the forest and befoul it with noise and smoke.” To him, the popularity of the Model T was the beginning of the end. He described Ford’s brainchild vehicle as “a demon on wheels.” Ford never doubted his own beliefs and decisions, forbidding disagreement from employees and ignoring any from outsiders. But he made an exception for John Burroughs. In general, Ford’s hobby was work. He devoted almost every waking minute to it. But Ford loved birds all of his life and whenever possible set aside time to observe them—the sprawling grounds of his Michigan home included hundreds of birdhouses. Burroughs’s evocative writings about feathered creatures enthralled him, a rarity for the reading-averse Ford.

In 1912, aware of the old man’s contempt for cars in general and the Model T in particular, Ford wrote Burroughs a letter. In it he thanked Burroughs for all the pleasure his books had given him, and in return offered to send along a shiny Model T. Perhaps driving one himself would give Burroughs a different perspective. Burroughs grudgingly accepted, with the understanding that his ownership of the car would not be used for any publicity purposes. He initially insisted that his grown son Julian drive him about in it, then after a few weeks took the wheel himself. Burroughs had constant trouble maintaining control of the vehicle. Once he rammed the car into a barn, and Ford sent mechanics to make repairs. But if driving ultimately didn’t suit Burroughs, Henry Ford did. Once the two men met, Burroughs was impressed by Ford’s sincere interest in ornithology and, in fact, most things about nature. Ford, in turn, was starstruck by another person he’d previously admired from afar. They took nature hikes together, with Burroughs acting as all-knowing instructor and Ford proving an eager student.

In September 1913, Ford convinced Burroughs to take a car trip with him, from the naturalist’s part-time home near Poughkeepsie, New York, to Concord, Massachusetts. Burroughs had introduced Ford to the philosophies (if not the printed words) of Emerson and Thoreau. Now the automaker wanted to see where these New England–based philosophers once lived and worked. Before they left, Ford invited Edison to join them, but the inventor was unable to break away from work in his laboratory. Burroughs, who’d previously roughed it on a well-documented wilderness camping trip in Yellowstone with then-president Theodore Roosevelt, expected more of the same. But Ford arrived with a fleet of cars loaded with servants and equipment. At their camping stops on the way there and back, they slept in large individual tents set up by staffers, enjoyed electric light from portable storage batteries, ate delicious meals prepared by a chef, and dressed each morning in freshly ironed clothes. They made frequent daily stops so Burroughs could point out interesting flowers, plants, and wildlife. Ford was enthralled.

Burroughs had a fine time, too. Afterward, each man got additional confirmation of how advantageous it was to be friends with the other. Simply by being seen out driving with Burroughs, or having newspapers take note of the outings, Ford sent a message to America. If old-fashioned John Burroughs loved to ride in them, how much more might younger, more progressive individuals savor the kind of outdoor adventures made possible by car ownership? As for Burroughs, he’d learned years earlier during his tramps with Roosevelt that having a famous patron greatly expanded audiences for his books and public lectures. There was more. Burroughs confided to Ford that he feared losing the family farm in Roxbury, New York, where he was raised. Relatives living there struggled to meet hefty mortgage payments. Ford bought the property outright and deeded it to Burroughs. Ford’s generosity toward his few close friends was boundless.

Edison knew Burroughs only through Ford, but he was pleased to host the naturalist in Fort Myers. Edison used some of his acreage to cultivate fruits and flowers. Burroughs, expert in matters of soil and weather conditions and appropriate care of growing things, made useful suggestions about gardening. Edison was also a budding ornithologist. Prior to departing for Fort Myers, he told the New York Times that while in Florida he expected to join Ford and Burroughs in studying bird life in the Everglades.

Ford and Burroughs believed that this outing was the main purpose of the trip. All eleven thousand square miles of the Everglades, comprising marshes, sloughs, ponds, and forests, offered tantalizing glimpses of indigenous plants and flowers, along with a varied bird population and innumerable animals and reptiles. The plan, it seemed to them, was to organize an immediate excursion after their Fort Myers arrival into the seldom-explored heart of the Everglades, with Burroughs pointing out and explaining much of what they discovered. They were vaguely aware of certain drawbacks. There were dangerous creatures lurking in the wet and wild, principally alligators and snakes. But if they brought along a few hardy local guides and a gun or two, that threat would be neutralized. Also, there were no roads of any sort plunging even partway into the Everglades, let alone cutting across the whole thing. But Ford was proud of his cars—he’d had several Model Ts shipped to Fort Myers for this very purpose—and felt certain that they could handle the potentially treacherous terrain. Camp conditions would fall far short of those he and Burroughs had enjoyed on their recent New England trip. Ford servants wouldn’t be on hand to cook, clean, and set up and operate storage battery systems for electric lights. Since Model Ts were built with little storage space, equipment would either have to be strapped to the sides or loaded in beside passengers. But the prospect of actually roughing it, sharing some of the same limited road resources as the growing number of humbler Americans setting off on camping trips in their Model Ts or other cars, had its own appeal. Ford, Edison, and Burroughs would be three aging but still physically capable men reveling in real, rugged adventure.

Ford and Burroughs were eager to set out and assumed that Edison shared their enthusiasm. They were dismayed when their host informed them that he wanted to rest a while first. Edison needed it—a few months earlier, worn down by business stress and his own night-owl work habits, he’d suffered a breakdown. Mina Edison made certain that this was known only to the immediate family. Even Ford may not have been aware of it. Now for several days in Fort Myers, Ford and Burroughs prowled restlessly around the inventor’s estate while Edison lounged inside, listening to music recorded by one of his companies and played on a phonograph manufactured by another. He also leafed through some of the hundreds of books in his Fort Myers library. Edison finally pronounced himself sufficiently refreshed. Ford and Burroughs were ready to leap into the cars.



It wasn’t that simple. First, local guides were engaged, and all three—Frank Carson, Les Hibble, and Sam Thompson—warned that the planned ramble was far riskier than the Northern men realized, even before the campers reached the massive Everglades. The region between Fort Myers and the ’Glades was prowled by panthers and bears. The panthers lurked in the brush and made sounds like babies crying. If you were fooled and went to look, you would be attacked. Once in the Everglades, you entered an entirely different world, where the customs and rules of civilization had no meaning. Outsiders had no idea how many gators and snakes really were submerged in pools or out of sight behind brush or tree stumps. In many places the trees and moss were so dense that it was easy to get turned around and lose any sense of direction. Even those familiar with the Everglades occasionally died in there. This was going to be difficult and dangerous.

Ford, Edison, and Burroughs believed themselves up to it. The guides might be exaggerating, trying to throw a scare into perceived Yankee rubes. Burroughs in particular had dared all kinds of wilderness, from the mountains of Yellowstone to those of New York state, and there were plenty of bears and other fanged, clawed menaces in both places. If you stayed alert, you were fine. They’d come to Florida to explore the Everglades, and that was what they would do.

At some point, it was determined that Edsel Ford and Charles and Theodore Edison should come along, too. Neither father was especially close to his offspring, and both considered their sons to be somewhat spoiled and unworldly. Edsel was twenty-one, Charles twenty-three, and Theodore sixteen—a rough-and-tumble trip might be just the thing to toughen them up. The young men were enthusiastic at the prospect. Theodore Edison, in particular, loved nature and even kept occasional baby alligators as pets. After some discussion, an area in the ’Glades known as Deep Lake was designated as the trip destination. It lay some sixty miles southeast of Fort Myers. The guides suggested driving about forty miles east to the town of LaBelle, then turning south into the Everglades itself. They’d camp for several days at Deep Lake, studying flowers and fauna by day and warming themselves by a campfire at night. It wasn’t official hunting season in Florida, but in the isolated Everglades they could watch for deer and other edible game. Fresh meat for dinner was a pleasant possibility. This latter prospect wasn’t mentioned to Theodore Edison, who was notoriously soft-hearted about four-legged creatures. With everything apparently decided, they prepared to depart. Then came a complication.

Mina Edison was an educated, opinionated woman. At forty-seven she was twenty years younger than her husband, and while devoted to him and his career, she also respected her own abilities and place in the world. Mina never allowed herself to be described as a “housewife”—women staying at home to raise children and provide support to their husbands were doing important jobs, too. She insisted on being called a “home executive,” and expected to be consulted by her spouse on all important nonlaboratory matters and included in anything she deemed interesting and appropriate. The Everglades trip qualified. It was a romp, not in any sense inventing or manufacturing work. Women deserved the opportunity to enjoy nature and learn about things from Mr. Burroughs just as much as men. Edison and Ford weren’t pleased—part of their incentive for the trip was to temporarily escape the domestic scene. But Mina Edison didn’t waver—the men could argue all they liked, but the ladies were coming, too. Daughter Madeleine Edison was thrilled at the prospect, Ford’s wife, Clara, less so. She was deathly afraid of snakes. But Mina overruled any reptile-related objection—they would have fun. Further, possibly with the intent to drive home the point of female equality to her husband and his male companions, she invited her friend Lucy Bogue and Madeleine’s chum Bessie Krup to come along, as well. They were pleased to accept—going on an outing with the Fords and Edisons was such a privilege. All their friends would surely be jealous.



Early on Saturday morning, February 28, five cars—three Fords and two Cadillacs—set out from Fort Myers. Supplies were suitable for rugged exploring and camping—tents, guns, fishing rods—but not the clothing. With the exception of the guides, who knew better but apparently hadn’t warned their employers, the gentlemen wore coats and shirts with stiff collars and ties. The ladies were fashionable in long dresses and bonnets. Adventure or not, this was still a public outing. The elegantly bedecked party set off gaily and rattled along for perhaps five or ten minutes before encountering the first obstacle to its merry agenda.

Directly outside of town, what locals described as “wish to God” roads commenced—roads only in the sense that they were dirt paths scored on each side by two deep ruts from wagon wheels and occasional car tires, and drivers wished to God that the going was easier. Maneuvering to drive in the ruts meant risking tires getting wedged tight. If the ruts weren’t sticky with mud after rain, they were usually clogged with sand. Driving around the ruts kept cars bouncing over stones and semiexposed palmetto roots. Madeleine Edison, who kept a journal about the trip, compared the experience to enduring a wild carnival ride, only for many hours instead of a few measured minutes. But soon the jouncing became secondary. Recent rain in the area caused “ponding,” standing pools of water that were deceptively deep. Dirt became gluey mud. Tires stuck. Charles Edison, at the wheel of one of the cars, asked a guide how to tell the spots of highest ground beneath the water. He was informed, “You just have to feel your way.” Edsel Ford brought a camera, and several of his snapshots showed male passengers gallantly walking through the water and mud alongside the cars so the vehicles would be lighter and less likely to bog down. In some places the water reached to their knees. It took much of the day just to reach LaBelle. Along the way, they encountered other travelers making better time, and waved politely to the locals perched on the seats of their ox-drawn wagons.

But at least there was still some semblance of road. That ended when the five-car procession turned south just past LaBelle. A barely discernible trail reached the mushy curl of land that comprised the outer edge of the Everglades and then disappeared altogether. Openings appeared between clumps of trees. The three guides, who’d hunted and explored in the area, now had to move ahead and guide the cars from one safe spot to the next. Insects, many of them biting varieties, swarmed everywhere. There were flowers and plants that Burroughs identified, but it was difficult getting out of the cars to gather around him. Any misstep might result in sinking ankle deep in muck.

A sense of excitement remained. Everyone knew it was going to be hard going, and this place with its earthy smells and eerie shadows was certainly more exotic than anything everyone but the guides had ever experienced before. Clara Ford looked less at sights described by Burroughs than the ground immediately around her. She knew snakes were everywhere, even if she didn’t see them. As the adventurers rode, the autos jostled along such uneven ground that Madeleine Edison feared “being suddenly dashed into all this loveliness over the back of the car, and not missed for several hours.”

In the swamp, as on the waterlogged Fort Myers–to–LaBelle road, progress was far slower than anticipated. They barely reached the Deep Lake area that day and rushed to set up camp before dark. Though far from the luxury enjoyed by Ford and Burroughs on their earlier auto trip, there were still amenities. The guides put up tents, spreading palmetto leaves on the ground to keep blankets and sleeping bags dry. Mosquito netting was draped over tent flaps to keep sleepers as bite-free as possible. Madeleine Edison described “live oak trees by the side of a reedy little lake.” Ford went exploring, taking along Charles Edison and a .22 target pistol. The automaker amused himself by blasting the heads off snakes—Charles counted three such decapitations. The guides flushed out and shot a pheasant, which was technically out-of-season poaching. Even though he wasn’t in on the kill, Ford posed for Edsel brandishing the trophy, which the hired hands then cleaned and cooked for dinner. Theodore Edison, apparently less sympathetic to fowl than four-legged creatures, didn’t object. Edsel snapped another photo of his father’s friend Edison sprawled on the ground, sleeping with his head on Mina’s lap. In all, it was a challenging but rewarding day. Everyone looked forward to the next morning when real adventures could begin. There would be so many sights to see, surely even more brightly plumed birds and dazzling flowers—despite its murk, the Everglades was proving such a colorful place—and also alligators sunning on riverbanks. These scaly monsters surely didn’t represent any real danger. The guides had guns, after all.

But then the skies darkened from the presence of ominous clouds as well as night, and the croaking frogs and buzzing insects were drowned out by approaching thunder. Winter months in this area were the dry season, but there were occasional exceptions, and this threatened to be one. The ladies in their fine clothes feared getting drenched. Burroughs, Ford, and Edison anticipated a lingering storm would drive wildlife back into the Everglades depths, depriving them of opportunity for close study. The guides’ concern was by far the most practical—they hoped they were camped on sufficiently high ground for their employers to survive flooding. Then the storm struck, unleashing a savage deluge that crashed down in sheets. Madeleine Edison, possessed of a descriptive bent, later wrote that “like rabbits before a hunting party the members of the expedition came hurtling one by one into the tent” initially reserved for the women. It was the biggest and most stout. A few others sheltered in a smaller tent intended for the men. All everyone could do was huddle under blankets and hope that rising water wouldn’t gush over the tents’ palmetto leaf carpets, which it did within minutes. Then a blast of wind blew the big tent over. There were valiant attempts to pin the sides to the ground while Charles Edison repositioned a critical ridge pole. But one side of the tent still waved loose in the gale and everyone was soaked from head to foot. Water rose inside, and it took little imagination to mistake floating branches for snakes.
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